Filed 08-02-2024

Page 1 of 16

FILED 08-02-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2024AP001071

In the Interest of F.R.W., a person under the age of 18:

A.M.D.,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

G.R.B., JR.

Respondent-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order Terminating Parental Rights, entered in the Fond du Lac County Circuit Court,
The Honorable Douglas Edelstein, Presiding

PETITIONER-RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO RESPONDENT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF-IN-CHIEF

Jacob Birenbaum
State Bar No. 1099622
Attorney for the Petitioner-Respondent
Hawley, Kaufman & Kautzer, S.C.
400 First Street
PO Box 485
Random Lake, WI 53075
(920) 994-4800

ARGUMENT

Mr. Bartel raises three issues for review: whether the circuit court erred in denying Mr. Bartel's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict; whether the circuit court denied Mr. Bartel's motion to dismiss the case on the basis of the "clean-hands" doctrine and; whether the circuit court erred in denying Mr. Bartel's motion to dismiss on the grounds that the abandonment statutes, as applied to Mr. Bartel violated substantive due process. For the reasons stated below, the circuit court's orders denying Mr. Bartel's three motions was not an erroneous application and this court must affirm.

A. Standard of Review

It is well established that on appeal a circuit court's decision to deny a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict will not be reversed absent a showing of a clear abuse of discretion or an erroneous application of the law. DeGroff v. Schmude, 71 Wis.2d 554, 238 N.W.2d 730, 735 (Wis. 1976). A trial court has the discretion to grant such a motion if it determines that the jury's findings are contrary to the "great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence" even when the findings are supported by credible evidence. (*Id.*) A motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict challenges whether the facts found are sufficient to permit recovery as a matter of law. *Logterman v. Dawson*, 190 Wis.2d 90, 101, 529 N.W.2d 768, 771 (Wis. App. 1994). The trial court has the authority to enter such a judgment. (*Id.*).

The statutes set forth timing in which to file motions to dismiss. Motions to dismiss are limited to the initial pleadings and if not raised in a responsive pleading are waived. (Wis. Stat. §802.06 and 802.08). Wis. Stat. §48.427 gives the trial court discretion to dismiss a petition at the dispositional phase if it finds the evidence does not warrant the termination of parental rights. After a jury has found that grounds exist for termination and the court finds the parent unfit, the focus of the trial court shifts to the best interest of the child. *In re the Termination of Parental rights to Prestin T.B., a person under the Age* of 18: Sheboygan County Department of Health and Human Services v. Julie A.B., 2002 WI 95, ¶4, 225 Wis.2d 179, 648 N.W.2d 402. Once a basis for termination has been found by the jury and the court finds a parent unfit, the court transitions to the dispositional phase at which point the prevailing factor is the best interest of the child. (Id. at ¶37). A trial court should not dismiss a petition for the termination of parental rights at the dispositional phase "unless it can reconcile dismissal with the best interest of the child." (*Id.* at ¶38).

The Court in *Rhonda R.D. v. Franklin R.D.*, 191 Wis.2d 680, 704, 530 N.W.2d 34, 43 (Wis. App. 1995) found that the phrase in Wis. Stat. §48.415(1)(a) "left by a parent" to be ambiguous which required an analysis of its context and legislative intend. That Court found that "left by" could apply in cases where the parent knows *or could discover* the whereabouts of the child and the parent has failed to visit or communicate with the child. (emphasis added). (*Id.* at 706).

It is true that under the clean-hands doctrine a party who "has been guilty of substantial misconduct" of matters in litigation shall not be afforded relief when they come to court. *State v. Kaczmarski*, 2009 WI App 117, ¶15,772 N.W.2d 702, 708, 320 Wis. 2d 811 (Wis. App. 2009), quoting *Timm v. Portage County Drainage Dist.*, 145 Wis.2d 743, 753, 429 N.W.2d 512 (Wis. App. 1988). The Court in *Kaczmarski* found that the clean-hands argument failed, in part, because the conduct that the State asserted supported the application of clean-hands was not related to the harm from which Kaczmarski sought relief. (*Id.* ¶16). The trial court does have discretion to grant relief under the clean-hands doctrine and the court abuses its discretion if it "relies upon an erroneous view of the law or bases its decision upon irrelevant factors". *Timm* at 752.

B. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it denied Mr. Bartel's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, for denying Mr. Bartel's motion to dismiss on the

basis of "clean-hands" doctrine and on the grounds that the jury instructions violated substantive due process.

Following verdicts, Mr. Bartel moved the court for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict alleging that the record established sufficient evidence to overcome the claim that Mr. Bartel abandoned the child. (R. 162: p 133). Mr. Bartel asserted that because Ms. Daniel moved 9 times and blocked Mr. Bartel on social media that that prevented Mr. Bartel from communicating or visiting with Franny (R. 162: p 133-134).

Ms. Daniel acknowledged that for a short period during the pregnancy she blocked Mr. Bartel's phone number, but halfway through the pregnancy she had unblocked him, and he remained unblocked thereafter. (R. 161: p 80-81). Ms. Daniel acknowledged that she had blocked Mr. Bartel on social media shortly after Franny was born in January 2014, because he would question her about her personal life. (R. 161: p 81). Ms. Daniel did not have Mr. Bartel's phone number blocked so he could still communicate with her. (R. 161: p 81-82). Ms. Daniel explained that when Mr. Bartel exercised his placement of Franny that he would either call or text Ms. Daniel and was able to have his placement. (R. 161: p 84). Throughout this time, Ms. Daniel still had Mr. Bartel blocked on social media, which never interfered with Mr. Bartel communicating via telephone for visits. (R. 161: p 84-85). Ms. Daniel resided with her parents when Franny was born and moved into an apartment on her own in December 2014. (R. 161: p 86). Between

December 2014 and February 2018, Ms. Daniel moved several times during which times Mr. Bartel would exercise placement by communicating via phone with Ms. Daniel (R. 161: p 86-88). The last time Mr. Bartel saw Franny was February 10, 2018. (R. 161: p 91). Mr. Bartel contacted Ms. Daniel in March 2018 and threatened to take her to court after she told him that she had moved to Milwaukee. (R. 161: p 93). Mr. Bartel contacted Ms. Daniel in August 2018 to coordinate a visit with Franny, but he never confirmed his availability, so a visit did not take place. Ms. Daniel informed Mr. Bartel that she had moved to Waukesha. (R. 161: p 93-94). The last time Mr. Bartel communicated with Ms. Daniel was in September 2018. (R. 161: p 94). Ms. Daniel confirmed that her moves up to that point were within the 150-mile radius which did not require her to notify Mr. Bartel. (R 161: p 94-95). Ms. Daniel moved 3 times from November 2018 until February 2021, each move being within the 150-mile radius and during which time Mr. Bartel never communicated with Ms. Daniel. (R. 161: p 96-98). There were four 6-month periods during which Mr. Bartel failed to communicate with Ms. Daniel from September 2018 to September 2020. (R. 161: p 98-99). Ms. Daniel has had the same phone number since 2008. (R. 161: p 104). Ms. Daniel produced her phone records, none of which show a phone call from Mr. Bartel's phone number at the time he was exercising placement or the phone number he listed on mediation paperwork. (R. 161: p105-106). The phone records also did not contain any phone records from any witness of Mr. Bartel. (R. 161: p 107-108). Mr. Bartel did not produce any phone records to show his efforts to

communicate with Ms. Daniel. (R. 161: p 229). Mr. Bartel admitted to having stopped calling Ms. Daniel. (R. 161: p 230). Mr. Bartel admitted that his phone numbers did not appear on the phone call logs produced by Ms. Daniel and further admitted that when he called from a private number, he would not leave a voicemail. (R. 161: p 238).

The trial court concluded, after considering the credible evidence with reasonable inferences, in light most favorable to the petitioner, that it could not find there was no credible evidence to support the jury's verdict. (R. 162: p 135). The trial court further decided that the jury was not outside the application of the law to reach a "reasonable and just verdict." (R. 162: p 135). The trial court also addressed whether Ms. Daniel had unclean hands, which the court was satisfied that the jury had considered when it deliberated. (R. 162: p 136).

At the Disposition hearing Mr. Bartel moved to dismiss the petition on the basis of the "clean hands" doctrine and that the statute as applied violated substantive due process. The trial court determined that the jury "considered all of these facts and the jury felt there was a basis as for grounds". (R. 163: p 8-15). The trial court found that the motions ultimately were made untimely and were unpersuasive in that it sought to "rehash a number of prior arguments, to include that of summary judgment, to include that of evidence which was presented during the trial which the jury did consider." (R. 163: p 14). At the conclusion of the jury trial, the trial court set deadlines for submissions prior to the disposition hearing

and, although, Mr. Bartel did not submit anything until well after the deadline the trial court still considered the motions. (R. 127: p 10; R. 163: p 14). The record is silent on any request to extend deadlines for submissions prior to disposition by Mr. Bartel.

Mr. Bartel asserts that because of the clean-hands doctrine, Ms. Daniel should be unable to prevail on her petition for the termination of parental rights. Mr. Bartel asserts that Ms. Daniel violated of Wis. Stat. §767.481(1)(a) by failing to update her address when she moved 9 times. Mr. Bartel connects her violation of that to his not having contact with Franny. Wis. Stat. §767.481(1)(a) requires the parent intending to relocate with the child *100 miles or more from the other parent* to notify the other parent and the court. (emphasis added).

Ms. Daniel acknowledged that she did not notify Mr. Bartel or the Court prior to moving out of state and beyond the 150 miles as required in the Order. (R 161: p 94-95). However, Ms. Daniel also explained that her moves from February 2018 through February 2021 were all within the radius requiring notification. (R 161: p 94-95). Further, Ms. Daniel also explained that from February 2018 through February 2021, the time in which she moved within that radius, that Mr. Bartel never communicated with her. (R. 161: p 96-98). Also during that time there were four 6 month periods of no communication. (R. 161: p 96-98). Mr. Bartel's claim of "clean-hands" because Ms. Daniel did not provide her address being related to his not communicating or visiting Franny fails because the

conduct and the harm are not related. For three years Ms. Daniel did not have to notify Mr. Bartel or the Court pursuant to §767.481(1)(a) because her moves were within the radius. When Ms. Daniel relocated out of state, beyond the mile radius, four six month periods of abandonment occurred. Further, Mr. Bartel did not show how not knowing Ms. Daniel's address prevented him from discovering Franny's whereabouts, communicating with or visiting Franny. By his own admission, Mr. Bartel stopped communicating and he would not leave voicemails. (R. 161: p 230 and p 238). Mr. Bartel has failed to show how Ms. Daniel's not updating her address when she moved beyond the 100- or 150-mile radius affected his ability to contact her by phone and to visit or communicate with Franny and why for three years prior to Ms. Daniel's relocation he did not have communication with Franny or Ms. Daniel. Ms. Daniel produced her phone records which showed all her calls incoming, whether numbers were blocked or not. (R. 161: p105-106). Ms. Daniel admitted to blocking Mr. Bartel's phone number during the pregnancy only. (R. 161: p 80-81). However, Mr. Bartel continues to advance the argument that he was blocked and that he had attempted to call, without being able to produce those phone records. (R. 161: p 229). Mr. Bartel offered that he did try calling from different numbers but was unable to either produce his own phone records or identify phone numbers that appeared on Ms. Daniels phone records. (R. 161: p 229; (R. 161: p 238). Mr. Bartel advanced his defense that he had good cause for not communicating with or visiting Franny. All of that information was presented to and considered by the jury.

Case 2024AP001071 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-02-2024 Page 13 of 16

During a lengthy conference to review the proposed jury instructions the

trial court considered Mr. Bartel's request to have jury instruction 2168 for

interference with child custody, a criminal violation, included in the instructions.

(R. 162: p 79). After consideration and using its discretion and explaining its

reasoning, the trial court declined to include it. (R. 162: p 73-78). The jury

instructions asked the jury to determine whether Mr. Bartel abandoned Franny (R.

129: p 13 - 18). The jury instruction also provided an explanation as to whether

Mr. Bartel has good cause for having failed to visit or communicate with Franny.

(R. 129: p 13-18). The jury returned a unanimous verdict finding that Mr. Bartel

abandoned Franny and did not have good cause for doing so.

The trial court exercised its sound discretion in denying Mr. Bartel's motion

for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and Mr. Bartel's motions to dismiss.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Ms. Daniel, through the

undersigned counsel, respectfully requests that this court deny Mr. Bartel's

request to reverse the order terminating his parental rights of Franny.