Filed 07-12-2024

FILED 07-12-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2024AP001071

In re the termination of parental rights to F.R.W., a person under the age of 18:

A.M.D.,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

G.R.B., JR.,

Respondent-Appellant.

Appeal from an Order Terminating Parental Rights, entered in the Fond du Lac County Circuit Court, the Honorable Douglas R. Edelstein, Presiding

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Respondent-Appellant

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

ARGUMENT

I. As a matter of law, Mr. Bartel did not abandon his child, and therefore, the circuit court erred by denying his motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

A. Abandonment statute.

The abandonment statute requires the petitioner to prove that:

3. The child has been left by the parent with any person, the parent knows or could discover the whereabouts of the child and the parent has failed to visit or communicate with the child for a period of 6 months or longer.

Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1)(a)3.

The abandonment statute also contains a good cause affirmative defense, that the respondent may prove by a preponderance of the evidence. Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1)(c); Wisconsin JI-Children 314, at 3.

a. Abandonment is not established under par. (a)2. or 3. if the parent proves all of the following bya preponderance of the evidence:

1. That the parent had good cause for having failed to visit with the child throughout the time period specified in par. (a) 2. or 3., whichever is applicable.

2. That the parent had good cause for having failed to communicate with the child throughout

Page 20 of 36

the time period specified in par. (a) 2. or 3., whichever is applicable.

3. If the parent proves good cause under subd. 2., including good cause based on evidence that the child's age or condition would have rendered any communication with the child meaningless, that one of the following occurred:

a. The parent communicated about the child with the person or persons who had physical custody of the child during the time period specified in par. (a) 2. or 3., whichever is applicable, or, if par. (a) 2. is applicable, with the agency responsible for the care of the child during the time period specified in par. (a) 2.

b. The parent had good cause for having failed to communicate about the child with the person or persons who had physical custody of the child or the agency responsible for the care of the child throughout the time period specified in par. (a) 2. or 3., whichever is applicable.

Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1)(c).⁹

In determining if good cause existed as stated in questions 4, 5, and 7, you may consider whether (child)'s age or condition would have rendered any communication meaningless; whether (parent) had a reasonable opportunity to visit or communicate with (child) or communicate with (______), who had physical custody of (child); attempts to contact (child); whether the person(s) with physical custody of (child) prevented or

 $^{^{9}}$ Wisconsin JI-Children 314, which was provided in this case, instructs the jury that:

B. Legal standard and standard of review.

A circuit court has the authority to enter a judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV) if the facts elicited at trial are insufficient to establish a claim as a matter of law. *Logterman v. Dawson*, 190 Wis. 2d 90, 101, 526 N.W.2d 768, 771 (Ct. App. 1994). In a motion for JNOV, the factual findings of the verdict are accepted as true. *See* Wis. Stat. § 805.14(5)(b).

A circuit court's decision on a motion for JNOV presents a question of law subject to de novo review. *Management Computer Servs., Inc. v. Hawkins, Ash, Baptie & Co.,* 206 Wis. 2d 158, 177, 557 N.W.2d 67 (1996). See also, Logterman, 190 Wis. 2d at 101 (the reviewing court, without deference, uses the same legal process as the trial court).

C. As a matter of law, Mr. Bartel did not abandon his child.

As a matter of law, Mr. Bartel did not abandon Franny because Mr. Bartel never "left" Franny with a relative or other person. *See* Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1)(a)3. Instead, Ms. Daniel absconded with Franny and

Wisconsin JI-Children 314, at 3.

interfered with efforts by (parent) to visit or communicate with (child); any other factors beyond the parents control which precluded or interfered with visitation or communication; and all other evidence presented at this trial on this issue.

Page 22 of 36

withheld her location from Mr. Bartel. Under Wis. Stat. § 767.481, Ms. Daniel had a duty to notify Mr. Bartel of her intent to relocate, to give Mr. Bartel an opportunity to object, and to enable judicial review. Wis. Stat. § 767.481(1)(a), (1)(c), Wis. Stat. § 767.481(2)(b). She flagrantly and repeatedly violated this law. As discussed in additional detail below, Ms. Daniel's conduct was also criminal. *See* Wis. Stat. § 948.31(3)(c).

Mr. Bartel cannot be found to have "left" Franny with Ms. Daniel. See Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1)(a)3. A statute is "interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." State exrel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. The purpose of the statute is also relevant to interpretation. Id., ¶48. To interpret the phrase "left with" to encompass a situation where one parent absconds with the child would create an absurd and unreasonable result. See Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶44 (statutes are interpreted reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results). The Legislature enacted Wis. Stat. § 767.481(2)(b) and Wis. Stat. § 948.31(3) to protect parents like Mr. Bartel against conduct like Ms. Daniel's, and to protect children like Franny from being separated from their parent against court orders.

In considering the term "left with," the focus is on "the parent's conduct of allowing the child to remain" with another party while failing to have contact with the child. Rhonda R.D. v. Franklin R.D., 191 Wis. 2d 680, 704, 530 N.W.2d 34 (Ct. App. 1995). In *Rhonda R.D.*, Franklin's parental rights were terminated on grounds of abandonment. He and the child's mother, Rhonda, got divorced, and through the divorce action. Rhonda was awarded sole custody and placement. Id. at 689-690. She then moved out of state with the child. During the following four years, Franklin did not see the child or attempt to see the child, and was thousands of dollars in arrears on child support. Id. at 689-690. Franklin argued that he had not "left" his child because Rhonda moved away with the child. Id. at 690. He asserted that the term "left by" refers "only to the initial circumstance that separated the parent from the child." Id. at 703.

This Court found that the term "left by" could mean the child "is allowed to remain" with the other person. *Id.* at 704. The Court determined that this interpretation would cover situations where the parent "knew where the child was and never again had contact with the child." *Id.* at 706-707. Franklin argued that this interpretation would mean that "a parent can be found to have abandoned a child simply because the other parent gets custody in a divorce action," but this Court disagreed because "[i]n addition to having 'left' a child with another person, the respondent parent must know where the child is and have failed to visit or communicate with the child...". *Id.* at 707. Importantly, Rhonda did not conceal the child's address from Franklin. Franklin had her address and occasionally wrote letters. *Id.* at 690. As such, Mr. Bartel's case is distinguishable from *Rhonda R.D.* Unlike Franklin, he did not know where his child was because Ms. Daniel concealed her location from him. And unlike in *Rhonda R.D.*, Mr. Bartel's case involves unlawful and illegal conduct by Ms. Daniel. Mr. Bartel did not allow Franny to remain with Ms. Daniel. Instead, Ms. Daniel took Franny away from Mr. Bartel without permission, and then thwarted his ability to stay in contact with her by blocking him, changing her name, and moving no fewer than nine times without giving him notice or her new address. Mr. Bartel cannot be found to have "left" Franny with Ms. Daniel.

In Portage County v. Shannon M, No. 2014AP1260 unpublished slip op. (Oct. 2, 2014), this Court upheld a JNOV in a termination of parental rights case that, like the present case, involved the abandonment ground. (App.26-29).¹⁰ In that case, the Department of Health Services filed a petition of abandonment against Shannon for not visiting or communicating with her child. The jury found grounds; however, the circuit court entered a JNOV because there had been an improper visitation order entered previously that violated Shannon's rights. The Department argued that deference was owed to the jury's finding that there was not good cause for the

 $^{^{10}}$ This authored, unpublished decisions is cited for its persuasive value under Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b). A copy of the decision is included in the appendix. (App.26-29).

abandonment. The court disagreed because the "jury was not asked to decide what effect, if any, the [prior] order had on Shannon's conduct." On appeal, this Court agreed that the JNOV was warranted. Shannon M., No. 2014AP1260, ¶11. (App.2).

Likewise, here, deference is not owed to the jury's finding on abandonment. The circuit court ruled that it could not overturn the jury's finding. (163:8-9; App.17-18). This was an erroneous application of the law. The ultimate question of whether Franny was "left by" Mr. Bartel with Ms. Daniel as a matter of law is decided by the court. Here, as a matter of law, Mr. Bartel cannot be found to have abandoned Franny.

II. The order finding that Mr. Bartel abandoned his child violates the "cleanhands" doctrine, and therefore, the circuit court should have granted his motion to dismiss.

A. Legal standard and standard of review.

Under the clean-hands doctrine, a party who "has been guilty of substantial misconduct' of the matters in litigation such that the party 'has in some measure affected the equitable relations subsisting between the two parties and arising out of the transaction shall not be afforded relief when he [or she] comes into court." *State v. Kaczmarski*, 2009 WI App 117, ¶15, 320 Wis. 2d 811, 772 N.W.2d 702 (quoting *Timm v. Portage County Drainage Dist.*, 145 Wis. 2d 743, 753, 429 N.W.2d 512 (Ct. App. 1988)). For the clean-hands doctrine to apply, "it must clearly appear that the things from which the plaintiff seeks relief are the fruit of [his or her] own wrongful or unlawful course of conduct." *S & M Rotogravure Serv. v. Baer*, 77 Wis.2d 454, 467, 252 N.W.2d 913 (1977).

Whether or not to grant relief under the cleanhands doctrine is within the trial court's discretion. *Timm*, 145 Wis. 2d at 752. This court will affirm a court's exercise of discretion "if it examined the relevant facts, applied the correct standard of law and, using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *Randall v. Randall*, 2000 WI App 98, ¶7, 235 Wis. 2d 1, 612 N.W.2d 737.

> B. Ms. Daniel cannot prevail on a claim that Mr. Bartel abandoned his child where her own wrongful and unlawful conduct prevented Mr. Bartel from having contact with his child.

Ms. Daniel cannot prevail on a petition to terminate Mr. Bartel's parental rights on grounds of abandonment when the lack of contact between Mr. Bartel and Franny was "fruit" of Ms. Daniel's own "wrongful or unlawful course of conduct." See Baer, 77 Wis. 2d at 467. Her deliberate violations of the law undermined the equitable standing of the parties. She cannot succeed on ล claim of abandonment under these circumstances.

Ms. Daniel flagrantly violated her duty under Wis. Stat. § 767.481(1)(a), to apprise Mr. Bartel and the court of her relocations. This statute provides that,

Page 27 of 36

"if the court grants any periods of physical placement with a child to both parents and one parent intends to relocate and reside with the child 100 miles or more from the other parent, the parent who intends to relocate and reside with the child shall file a motion with the court seeking permission for the child's relocation." Wis. Stat. § 767.481(1)(a).

The motion shall include specific information including:

a. The date of the proposed relocation.

b. The municipality and state of the proposed new residence.

c. The reason for the relocation.

d. If applicable, a proposed new placement schedule, including placement during the school year, summers, and holidays.

e. The proposed responsibility and allocation of costs for each parent for transportation of the child between the parties under any proposed new placement schedule.

Wis. Stat. §767.481(1)(b).

The parent "shall serve a copy of the motion by mail on the other parent." Wis. Stat. § 767.481(1)(c). Upon the filing of the motion, the court shall hold a hearing and provide the parents notice of the hearing. The child may not be relocated prior to the hearing. Wis. Stat. § 767.481(2)(a). If the other parent objects to the relocation plan, the court shall require the objecting parent to respond in writing, refer the parties to mediation, appoint a guardian ad litem, and set the case for a hearing. Wis. Stat. § 767.481(2)(c)1-4.

Ms. Daniel violated this statute at least nine times, depriving Mr. Bartel of his right to object to relocation; depriving the court of its duty to review the relocation plan and, if warranted refer the case for mediation; and depriving Franny of the opportunity to have the court consider whether relocation away from her father was in her best interest.

Ms. Daniel's conduct was also criminal. Under Wis. Stat. § 948.31(3)(c):

(3) Any parent, or any person acting pursuant to directions from the parent, who does any of the following is guilty of a Class F felony:

(a) *Intentionally conceals* a child from the child's other parent.

•••

(c) After issuance of a temporary or final order specifying joint legal custody rights and periods of physical placement, *takes a child from or causes a child to leave the other parent in violation of the order or withholds* a child for more than 12 hours beyond the court-approved period of physical placement or visitation period.

Wis. Stat. § 948.31(3)(a), (c). (emphasis added).

Ms. Daniel admitted under oath that she knew she was violating the family court order. (161:94, 101102). Mr. Bartel had legal placement of Franny. The circuit court found her excuses for violating the court order not "particularly credible." (163:46). The court found that the "compelling evidence" was that Ms. Daniel blocked Mr. Bartel and therefore, he could not contact her directly. (163:47). The court found, "[s]he chose to not want to have communication with him." (163:47).

The circuit court's exercise of discretion in denying Mr. Bartel's motion to dismiss was erroneous because the court did not apply the correct legal standard in a reasonable manner. See Randall, 235 Wis. 2d 1, $\P7$. The court found that the issue of Ms. Daniel's unlawful moves was addressed at trial and the jury was instructed on the good cause defense. (163:8-9; App.17-18). However, the clean-hands doctrine is applied by the court in its exercise of discretion. Timm, 145 Wis. 2d at 752. Furthermore, the jury was not advised that Ms. Daniel violated the child relocation statute and committed felony offenses by doing so. Mr. Bartel requested that the jury be instructed on the pattern jury instruction for Wis. Stat. § 948.31(3)(c). (56, 162:73-73). See Wis. JI-Criminal 2168. However, the court denied his motion. (162:73-76). Arguendo, even if a jury should not be instructed on the civil and criminal statutes, this does not mean that the applicability of the statutes does not bear on the ultimate legal question of whether Ms. Daniel is prohibited under the clean-hands doctrine from prevailing on her claim.

Ms. Daniel's unlawful conduct deprived Mr. Bartel of the opportunity to have contact with Franny. She cannot now turn around and weaponize the lack of contact as a basis to obtain termination of Mr. Bartel's parental rights.

- III. The order finding that Mr. Bartel abandoned his child violates substantive due process, and therefore, the circuit court should have granted his motion to dismiss.
 - A. Legal standard and standard of review.

Mr. Bartel has a fundamental liberty interest in the care and custody of his daughter. See Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 651-652 (1972). An involuntary termination of parental rights is a permanent dissolution of the parent-child relationship. It is "tantamount to imposition of a civil death penalty." Matter of T.M.R., 487 P.3d 783, 787, 137 Nev. 262 (NV 2021).

The Fourteenth Amendment prohibits a state from depriving any person of liberty without due process of law. *Monroe County v. Kelli B.*, 2004 WI 48, ¶ 19 n. 7, 271 Wis.2d 51, 678 N.W.2d 831. See also Wis. Const. art. I §§1 and 8. Substantive due process protects a person against state action that is "arbitrary, wrong, or oppressive, regardless of whether the procedures applied to implement the action were fair." *Kelli B.*, 271 Wis. 2d 51, ¶19. A statute that impinges upon a fundamental liberty right must withstand strict scrutiny. *Kenosha County DHS v.* Jodie W., 2006 WI 93, ¶41, 293 Wis. 2d 530, 716 N.W.2d 845. Strict scrutiny requires a showing that the statute, as applied, is narrowly tailored to advance a compelling state interest. *Kelli B.*, 271 Wis. 2d 51, ¶17.

This court reviews a constitutional challenge to a statute de novo. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶15, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63. The party bringing the challenge has the burden to prove "beyond a reasonable doubt" that the statute is unconstitutional. *Id.* Likewise, whether a statute is unconstitutional as applied is a question of law, subject to independent appellate review. *Jodie W.*, 293 Wis. 2d 530, ¶22.

B. As applied to Mr. Bartel, the abandonment statute violates substantive due process.

It is fundamentally unfair to adjudicate Mr. Bartel an unfit parent where the mother of his child absconded with his daughter and cut him out of her life. Terminating Mr. Bartel's rights is not narrowly tailored to serve any compelling state interest. Instead, it effectively rewards Ms. Daniel for abducting Franny and taking her away to start a new family¹¹ elsewhere—flouting the family court order and violating both civil and criminal statutes. In reality, Mr. Bartel was a victim of Ms. Daniel's unlawful conduct. *See Kelli B.*, 271 Wis. 2d 51, ¶42

 $^{^{11}}$ Ms. Daniel's husband filed for adoption even prior to the conclusion of the termination of parental rights case. (163:29).

(terminating parental rights of mother who was a victim of the other parent's crime was a violation of substantive due process).

Compliance with due process requires an "individualized determination of unfitness" where the court will "evaluate the particular facts and circumstances relevant to the parent and child involved in the proceeding." *Jodie W.*, 293 Wis. 2d 530, ¶¶49-50. In *Jodie W.*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court found that the ground of unfitness based on a child being in continuing need of protection and services (CHIPS) violated substantive due process as applied to Jodie. The finding of unfitness was based on Jodie's failure to meet a condition of return requiring that she maintain a residence for her child. But this was "an impossible condition of return," given she was incarcerated. *Id.*, ¶¶6, 56.

As demonstrated by *Jodie W.*, the parent's actual ability to parent their child is an important factor in termination of parental rights cases. Here, it may not have been *literally* impossible for Mr. Bartel to find Ms. Daniel, but his efforts were beyond reasonable where Ms. Daniel intentionally erected barriers to his ability to parent Franny and he was responsible for parenting two other young children while maintaining a residence and job, while also paying Ms. Daniel thousands of dollars in child

support every year.¹² His lack of contact with Franny was out of his control.

Ms. Daniel is likely to argue that Mr. Bartel had her phone number and stopped calling her. First, the probative value of her cell records purportedly proving that Mr. Bartel did not call her is highly questionable given that the entire point of blocking a number is that the number does not connect to your phone. True, he did not call her every single day. But what good is it to have someone's phone number if they refuse to answer the phone? If they have taken your child and left the state? If they disobey clear court orders and flout the law? If you have no idea where your child even is and they could be across the world, for all you know?

Despite Ms. Daniel's actions, Mr. Bartel continued to pay child support (which Ms. Daniel readily accepted), and continued to search for Franny, even enlisting the help of his friends to find her social media accounts. He could not do so himself because, per her own admission Ms. Daniel had "blocked" him and his family on social media, and, at least for a period of time, had also blocked Mr. Bartel's phone number. (161:81, 163:25).

The circuit court's suggestion that Mr. Bartel was required to file a police report or have an "Amber Alert" issued in order to avoid losing his parental

33

¹² The child support ordered, commencing June 1, 2014, \$155 monthly payments. (120:3). The order would continue until the termination of parental rights order on March 19, 2024, for a total obligation of \$18,600.

rights is also unreasonable. (*See* 163:7; App.16). A layperson untrained in the law would not know that a co-parent with primary placement is committing a criminal offense by moving with the child. This cannot be presumed common knowledge. Moreover, it is highly implausible that police would issue an amber alert for a child who was moved by her mother, who had custody and primary placement. Nor is it reasonable to levy upon Mr. Bartel the responsibility to file formal motions to enforce his rights. He already fulfilled his legal obligations to obtain a paternity order and order for placement.¹³ He continued to do what he could to support Franny by continuously paying child support.

Once a person has a lawful court order in place, it is incumbent on the other parent to obey the court order and obey the law. Mr. Bartel was a young parent of two other children, without an advanced degree, and without financial means to hire a private investigator or attorney—but who was nonetheless enlisting the support of his family and friends, using the internet to search for Franny, and asking the child support office and clerk's office for help. And when Ms. Daniel finally showed back up in Fond du Lac, Mr. Bartel immediately asked the family court for mediation so that he could see his daughter. (3:1). Ms. Daniel turned right around and filed a motion to terminate

 $^{^{13}}$ To the extent the circuit court relied on "procedural" due process to deny this claim, the court misapplied the law. (*See* 163:14). Substantive due process is distinct from procedural due process. *See Kelli B.*, 271 Wis. 2d 51, ¶19.

Mr. Bartel's parental rights, delivering a final blow to his relationship with his daughter.

The abandonment statute, Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1), is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Bartel.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, G.R.B. asks the Court to reverse the order terminating his parental rights to his daughter, F.R.W.